## SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

DEMELLO BOLWARE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC04-12 DCA CASE NO.: 1D02-4016

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

## Amended Jurisdictional Brief of Appellant

Jeffrey P. Whitton Florida Bar No.: 0329509 Post Office Box 1956 Panama City, Florida 32402 (850) 769-7040 Attorney for Appellant

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This proceeding began as a petition for post conviction relief pursuant to Rule of Crim. P. 3.850 seeking to set aside Bolware's plea to a traffic offense. It was undisputed in the county court that Bolware had pled guilty to driving with a suspended or revoked license, that he had appointed counsel, and that counsel had not advised Bolware of possible administrative sanctions. In fact, Bolware's driving privileges were revoked by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles for five years as an habitual traffic offender.

The county court denied relief finding that counsel had no duty to advise of administrative sanctions. Bolware appealed and the undersigned was appointed to represent him.

The circuit court reversed, applying the "direct consequence" test of <u>Major v. State</u>, 814 So.2d 424 (Fla. 2002) stating

[T]his court is inclined to apply common concepts to the relevant terms. "Direct" means immediate or proximate-not remote. "Result" menas consequence. Syllogistically: if you do "A" then "B" must follow.

If an agency is required to take an action (B) when a person enters a plea in court (A) then the administrative act is a direct consequence of that plea, and the failure to so advise renders counsel ineffective for the purpose of Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

The state sought certiorari review in the First District Court of Appeal. That court granted relief and reinstated the county

court's original order (Appendix). Bolware now petitions this court for discretionary review of the District Court decision.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case comes before the Court as an appeal of the District Court of Appeal's second tier review of a Circuit Court appellate decision regarding plea bargains specifically the advice required of counsel as to administrative consequences to the defendant's driving privileges for the plea bargain to be effective.

The Circuit Court applied the direct consequences test of <u>Major</u> <u>v. State</u>, 814 So.2d 424 (Fla. 2002); but the District Court disagreed with a two to one decision, involving three separate opinions. Each opinion acknowledges the existence of Fourth District Court cases, particularly <u>Prianti v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 231 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002); holding contrary to the First District's present decision. An examination of both the opinion below and the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Prianti</u> clearly reveal the conflict.

In reversing, when the Circuit Court was clearly obliged to follow the holding of <u>Prianti</u>, the District Court vastly expanded its second tier jurisdiction, also conflicting with <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Kaklamanos</u>, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003). If the District Court opinion is allowed to stand, the only departure necessary for second tier review is disagreement with the District Court's ultimate disposition.

Both the jurisdictional issue and the substantive issue have far reaching consequences. If the Circuit Court's are to have a

meaningful appellate jurisdiction, some deference to them must continue to be shown. Furthermore, administrative consequences for pleas to driving offenses are virtually universal. A suggestion that counsel need not explain these will effectively deny the right to counsel in literally thousands of cases.

This Court should take jurisdiction of this cause, and resolve the conflicts created by the First District Court of Appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal opinion expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the substantive issue, see <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 716 So.2d 827 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998); <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001); <u>Prianti v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 231 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002) and further conflicts with repeated decisions of this court and every District as to the scope and jurisdiction of the District Court in certiorari review of appellate decisions of the Circuit Court, see, for example, <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos</u>, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003).

In doing so the District Court directly affects literally thousands of traffic court cases conducted daily in this state, creates different rules for trial courts and defense counsel in different parts of the state, and diminishes the significance of Circuit Court appellate jurisdiction.

Although the First District denied certification of express conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal, it is apparent from the attached opinion that all three judges found such conflict. The primary opinion notes that "we are aware that the Fourth District Court of Appeal has reached a different conclusion", footnote 2,

slip opinion at 5. The concurring opinion would expressly certify conflict, slip opinion at 7. The dissent could find no jurisdiction to review by certiorari the Circuit Court decision expressly following unequivocable law of another District, slip opinion at 9.

An examination of the opinions in the Fourth District cases also clearly establishes the conflict between decisions. In Daniels, the Fourth District ordered an opportunity to withdraw a plea to possession of cocaine. Counsel had not discussed a mandatory revocation of Daniels' driving privileges as a result of the possession charge. Daniels was cited with approval by this court in Major for its determination that drivers licenses suspensions were a direct consequence of the plea to possession of cocaine. Whipple, another Fourth District case is essentially identical to Daniels. Taken alone these cases might not apply to an administrative suspension of a drivers license based upon repeated traffic offenses. However, the Fourth District, citing Daniels and Whipple, clearly applied their ruling to a situation indistinguishable from the instant case. In <u>Prianti</u>, the trial court summarily denied relief pursuant to Rule 3.850 based upon the unexpected permanent revocation of driving privileges by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles. The District Court reversed the denial, clearly holding that failure of trial counsel to advise of the administrative sanctions possible could mandate withdrawal of the guilty plea.

б

<u>Prianti</u> is absolutely on point, and is irreconcilable with the First District's decision in this case.

There can be no doubt as to the existence of conflict with <u>Prianti</u>.

The importance of this case is also beyond doubt. Every day traffic courts operate in this state. Counsel for defendants in these courts are routinely appointed, indeed required if even a violation of probation would result in incarceration, <u>Alabama v.</u> <u>Shelton</u>, 535 U.S. 654 (2002). Since administrative sanctions are imposed against virtually all traffic offenders, questions as to the scope and requirements of counsel's advice are of general importance.

Furthermore, the District Court of Appeal decision conflicts with cases of this Court regarding the standard of review in certiorari review of Circuit Court appellate decisions. This Court has repeatedly limited second tier review to those situations where the Circuit Court violated <u>clearly</u> established principles of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice, <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Kaklamanos</u>, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003). While the District Court paid lip service to this rule it then concluded that, although the circuit court followed the only directly on point precedent from a District Court of Appeal, it would quash the Circuit Court's decision.

In essence the District Court of Appeal has found a miscarriage of justice based upon its disagreement with the result, not upon violation of clearly established legal principles.

Without arguing the merits, it is clear that the District Court of Appeal opinion relies on cases holding that the criminal courts do not exercise direct jurisdiction over the administrative consequences of the plea. None of the cases cited by that Court seek to apply the "direct consequences" test of <u>Major</u>. If these cases do not create a "clearly established" principle of law, then the Circuit Court could not depart from such.

### CONCLUSION

The court should take jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the First and Fourth Districts created in the appealed decision and the First District's expansion of its certiorari jurisdiction.