IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEMELLO BOLWARE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC04-012

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. SPECIAL COUNSEL, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Respondent in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Demello Bolware, the Petitioner in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form as an appendix to this brief. It also can be found at 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2493 (Fla. 1st DCA October 31, 2003).

The only facts germane to the determination of jurisdiction are contained within the four corners of the decision and are as follows:

The state seeks certiorari review of a judgment entered by the Circuit Court of Bay County acting in its capacity as an appellate court, by which it reversed a county court order granting post-conviction relief on respondent's claim that his "no contest"

- 1 -

plea to the charge of Driving While License Suspended or Revoked (DWLSR) was not voluntary because he was not informed prior to her plea that as a consequence of the conviction (apparently his third), the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles could revoke his driver's license for five years pursuant to section 322.27(5), Florida Statutes. The circuit court essentially ruled that suspension or revocation of a license, a statutorily drivers's mandated administrative act, is a direct consequence of a plea to a specified driving offense, requiring defense counsel to warn the defendant prior to the entry of the plea.

Id.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order for this Court to have jurisdiction the <u>decisions</u> alleged to be conflicting must expressly and directly conflict on the same point of law. Petitioner has not established an adequate basis for this Court to exercise its conflict jurisdiction. The decision of the lower tribunal is not in direct and express conflict with the decisions asserted to be in conflict. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to establish a basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and review should be denied.

- 2 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

IS THERE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND <u>WHIPPLE v. STATE</u>, 789 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), <u>PRIANTI v. STATE</u>, 819 So.2d 231 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), <u>DANIELS v. STATE</u>, 716 So.2d 827 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), <u>MAJOR v. STATE</u>, 814 So.2d 424 (Fla. 2002), or <u>ALLSTATE INS. CO. v.</u> <u>KAKLAMANOS</u>, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003) (Restated)

Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant

to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article

V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

In <u>Reaves</u>, this court defined the type of conflict which must exist to accept a petition for discretionary review. It said:

Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction.

To establish a basis for this Court's exercise of jurisdiction petitioner must show conflict between decisions which is "express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). <u>Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u> <u>v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc.</u>, 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986)(rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed

- 3 -

petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. <u>Reaves</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980)("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion").

In addition, it is the "conflict of **decisions**, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So.2d at 1359. In order for conflict to suffice as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction, the conflict must be on the same point of law. For, conflict jurisdiction can be invoked only when different principles of law are applied to indistinguishable facts. <u>Department of</u> <u>Revenue v. Johnson</u>, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983).

Petitioner points to no conflict of decisions sufficient to give rise to the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. Therefore, this Court should decline review.

The decision below is not in "express and direct" conflict with the decisions of any other district court.

Petitioner's alleged conflict does not meet Florida's standards for vesting this court with jurisdiction to resolve conflicts between districts. The first step in analyzing the existence of conflict is to determine what were the decisions in the cases alleged to be in conflict.

The decision in Petitioner's case involved an application of well-settled principles of law to the specific facts in the case. The issue presented was whether under these facts,

- 4 -

Petitioner had to be informed of the mandatory license revocation in order for the plea to be voluntary. The determination of this issue was dependant upon whether the license revocation was a direct consequence of the plea. The First District held that it was not a direct consequence because in order for it to be a direct consequence the revocation had to be punishment. The case law provided that a license revocation was not punishment, thus the First District reasoned that a license revocation was not a direct consequence of the plea.

Petitioner alleges that this case conflicts with several cases from the Fourth District Court of Appeals and one case from this Court which he alleges adopted the Fourth District's position. Petitioner is wrong and review should be denied.

Petitioner alleges conflict with <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) and with <u>Prianti v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 231 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). These cases are factually and legally distinguishable from Petitioner's case. <u>Whipple</u> and <u>Prianti</u> involve allegations of affirmative misadvice by counsel regarding the consequences of a plea. Since it has long been held that affirmative misadvice can support withdrawal of a plea whether the advice relates to a direct or collateral consequence of a plea, <u>See Watrous v. State</u>, 793 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001), <u>Ray v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), these decisions are based on legal concepts and facts different from those in Petitioner's case. Therefore, there exists no express and direct conflict between these cases and the case at hand.

- 5 -

The state acknowledges that the opinion in <u>Prianti</u> talks about direct consequences of the plea, however, as noted above, it is not conflict in the language of opinions which confers jurisdiction but express and direct conflict in decisions. <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So.2d at 1359. If the facts in the alleged conflicting decisions are different, then the decisions are not in express and direct conflict. <u>Department of Revenue v.</u> <u>Johnson</u>, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Therefore, Petitioner cannot show express and direct conflict with these <u>Whipple</u> and <u>Prianti</u>.

Petitioner also alleges conflict with <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 716 So.2d 827 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) which Petitioner asserts this Court adopted in <u>Major v. State</u>, 814 So.2d 424 (Fla. 2002). Prior to this Court's decisions in <u>Major</u> and <u>State v. Partlow</u>, 840 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 2003), the state might have agreed that conflict exists, however no express and direct conflict sufficient to warrant the granting of jurisdiction now exists.

The decision in <u>Daniels</u> quoted the appropriate <u>Zambuto v.</u> <u>State</u>, 413 So.2d 461 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) standard for distinguishing between direct and collateral consequences of a plea:

"The distinction between 'direct' and 'collateral' consequences of a plea, while sometimes shaded in the relevant decisions, turns on whether the result represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment."

<u>Daniels</u> at 828, 829

- 6 -

While stating the correct standard, the court immediately deviated from this standard by stating: "the two year revocation was definite, immediate, and automatic upon Daniels' conviction. The revocation was a "consequence" of the plea under <u>Ashley</u> and a "penalty" contemplated by Rule 3.172." <u>Daniels</u> at 829. This application of the standard misstates the law by finding that a direct consequence is related to things which occur in conjunction with the conviction. It also totally ignores the language "effect on the range of the defendant's punishment".

Petitioner's problem is that in <u>Major</u>, this Court rejected the notion that <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1993) altered the test for, or is even relevant to, a determination of direct or collateral consequences of a plea. Further, in <u>Major</u>, this Court reiterated the traditional test that to be a direct consequence, the result had to represent a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the **range of the defendant's punishment**.

<u>Major</u> was followed by <u>State v. Partlow</u>, in which this Court reversed the Fourth District's determination based on <u>Daniels</u> that failure to advise of sex offender registration, although collateral, was a consequence of the plea that allowed the plea to be withdrawn. See <u>Partlow v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 999 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) <u>This Court in reversing the Fourth District in</u> <u>Partlow held that sexual offender registration was not a</u> **punishment** and thus no matter how definite, immediate, or <u>automatic was not a direct consequence of the plea</u>. This

- 7 -

reiteration that a direct consequence has to be punishment is why express conflict no longer exists.

This Court and various District Courts have held that suspension of a driver's license is not a punishment of the offender, but rather an administrative remedy for the public protection which follows conviction for certain offenses. See <u>Smith v. City of Gainesville</u>, 93 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1957), <u>State v.</u> <u>Scibana</u>, 726 So.2d 793 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) Since, <u>Partlow</u> rejected the <u>Daniels</u> analysis and reaffirmed that punishment was the standard, and, because it has long been held that license suspension is not punishment, there exists no express and direct conflict between the decision of the First District in Petitioner's case and any holding of the Fourth District that could be considered viable after <u>Partlow</u>.

Petitioner also alleges that there exists conflict between the decision of the lower tribunal and this Court's case of <u>Allstate</u> <u>Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos</u>, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003) This assertion is incorrect. First of all, the District Court applied <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos</u> in reaching its decision that a departure from the essential requirements of law exists. In doing so, the First District correctly applied the holding of the case.

Furthermore, the First District examined the lower tribunal's interpretation of <u>Major</u> and noticed the same flaw this Court found in <u>Partlow</u>, neither the Circuit Court below or the Court of Appeal in <u>Partlow</u> examined the issue of punishment. When the

- 8 -

District Court examined whether a drivers license revocation was punishment, it became clear that the Circuit Court, just like the Fourth District in <u>Partlow</u>, misapplied clearly established principles of law. Because the decisions of the lower tribunals ignored the issue of punishment, and the case law establishing that revocation of a drivers license is not punishment, these decisions departed from the essential requirements of law. Therefore, the First District's analysis does not conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos</u>, and there exists no conflict which would establish this Court's jurisdiction.

<u>Conflict</u>

As set out in the general discussion on conflict jurisdiction, conflict jurisdiction can be invoked only when different principles of law are applied to indistinguishable facts. <u>Department of Revenue v. Johnson</u>, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983). As shown above, the District Courts of Appeal applied the correct legal tests to different factual situations. Thus, Petitioner provides this Court with no basis for finding conflict jurisdiction exists.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.

- 9 -